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SOLOMON ISLANDS GOVERNMENT 
 

OMBUDSMAN 
 
 
Our Ref: OMB: 3/1/1 
Date: 26th October 2011 
 
Your Ref: 
 
Sir. Allen Kemakeza, KBE 
Speaker of the National Parliament of Solomon Islands 
 
Dear Mr. Speaker, 
 
OMBUDSMAN’S SPECIAL REPORT TO PARLIAMENT - ALLEGATIONS OF 
FINANCIAL MISMANAGEMENT AND MALADMINISTRATION WITHIN THE 
CHOISEUL PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT 
 
In accordance with section 98 (3) of the Constitution, it is my pleasure and honour to present to 
the National Parliament this Special Report No: 01/2011 on Own Motion Investigation into 
Allegations of Financial Mismanagement and Maladministration within the Choiseul 
Provincial Government. 
 
1. Delay in Presenting Report to Parliament 
 
Following are the reasons for the delay in presenting it to Parliament: 
 

(i) Initiating Ombudsman, John Smith Pitabelama had his five year term expired on 31st 
August 2006 just when the Investigations completed. The Report though completed could 
not proceed on as after then no Ombudsman was appointed. 

 
(ii) The in-coming Ombudsman, Joe Poraiwai who was recommended to take up the 
position, could not immediately be appointed on the expiry of the term of his predecessor 
due to legal challenges by the Executive Government over the recommendations to have 
him appointed. He only took up office on 25th July 2008 when the matter was cleared by 
the Court of Appeal after two years of legal battle. 

 
(iii) Work on the Report started again when the incumbent Ombudsman settled in. 

 
2. Action to recommendations 
 
By now relevant actions would have been taken to most of the Recommendations. After the 
production of the Investigation Report, the Audit Office has made an audit of the Provincial 
Accounts. The issues raised would have been dealt with by the Auditor General’s Office. It is 
understood the Provincial Authority has put in measures in place to put a stop to such practices 
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and to ensure strict compliance with relevant legislations and procedures. 
 
3. Constitutional Mandate and Matters for information of Parliament 
 
The Report highlighted a lot of maladministration action by public officials. Some of the actions 
by the officers were serious and contravened the relevant legislations and even the Penal Code. It 
is felt that though this Report might be out of date it must be presented to Parliament pursuant to 
the Ombudsman’s powers under section 98 (3) of the Constitution. It is important that 
Parliament is made aware of corrupt actions by Public Officials 
 
Thank you for facilitating the presentation of the Report at the earliest Parliament Meeting. 
 
I, yours faithfully, 
 
Joe Poraiwai 
Ombudsman. 
 

________________________ 
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List of Acronyms, words and names of persons used in the Reports 
 
If in doubt of certain words, abbreviations and names of persons and titles used in this Report, 
refer to the list below: 
 

CPG Choiseul Provincial Government 
  
DPGCD Department of Provincial Government and Constituency 

Development 
  
DPP Director of Public Prosecutions 
  
LCC Leadership Code commission 
  
Deputy Secretary Deputy Provincial Secretary of the Choiseul Province. 
  
John Smith Pitabelama Holder of Ombudsman Post between 2001 and 2006. 
  
Joe Poraiwai Holder of Ombudsman Post from 1

 

25th July 2008 to 08th November 
2011. 
 

Lauru Local name for Choiseul province. 
  
MPG Legal Office Office of the Legal Officer in the then Ministry of Provincial 

Government (now Department of Provincial Government and 
Constituency Development) 

  
NBSI National Bank of Solomon Islands 
  
RSIP Royal Solomon Islands Police Force. 
  
Secretary Provincial Secretary of the Choiseul Province 
  
SIG Solomon Islands Government 
  

                                                 
1  Legal five year term from 09th November 2006 to 09th November 2011 but did not resume duties until after 
formally sworn in on 25th July 2008. 
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Treasurer Provincial Treasurer of the Choiseul Province. 
 
I. CURRENT STATUS OF THE REPORT 
 

• Investigation Report 
 

Since the investigations were done in 2006, relevant Investigation Report was produced 
and distributed to Agencies and individuals accordingly.  

 
• Natural Justice Stages 

 
Letters were issued to relevant authorities and individuals and responses made 
accordingly. This is highlighted at the end of this Report. 

 
• Delay to have Report presented in Parliament. 

 
Following are the reasons for the delay in presenting it to Parliament: 

 
(i) Initiating Ombudsman, John Smith Pitabelama had his five year term expired 
on 31st August 2006 just when the Investigations completed. The Report though 
completed could not proceed on as after then no Ombudsman was appointed. 

 
(ii) The in-coming Ombudsman, Joe Poraiwai who was recommended to take up 
the position, could not immediately be appointed on the expiry of the term of his 
predecessor due to legal challenges by the Executive Government over the 
recommendations to have him appointed. He only took up office on 25th July 
2009 when the matter was cleared by the Court of Appeal after two years of legal 
battle. 

 
(iii) Work on the Report started again in 2010 when the incumbent Ombudsman 
settled in. 

 
• Action to recommendations 
 
By now relevant actions would have been taken to most of the Recommendations. After the 
production of the Investigation Report, the Audit Office has made an audit of the Provincial 
Accounts. The issues raised would have been dealt with by the Auditor General’s Office. 
 
II. POINTS FOR PARLIAMENT TO TAKE NOTE OF  
The Report highlighted a lot of maladministration action by public officials. Some of 
the actions by the officers were serious and contravened the relevant legislations and 
even the Penal Code. It is felt that though this Report might be out of dateit must be 
presented to Parliament pursuant to the Ombudsman’s powers under section 98 (3) of 
the Constitution. It is important that Parliament is made aware of corrupt actions by 
Public Officials. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
In mid 2006 the Office of the Ombudsman of Solomon Islands (‘the Ombudsman’s Office’) 
received an anonymous complaint from ‘Concerned Lauru People’ of official corruption within 
Choiseul Provincial Government (‘CPG’) administration on Taro Island, Choiseul Province.  
 
Although the complaint referred to ‘official corruption’, the then Ombudsman, John Smith 
Pitabelama, decided to initiate an own motion investigation rather than refer the details of the 
complaint to another agency such as the Leadership Code Commission (LCC), the Royal 
Solomon Islands Police (RSIP) or the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP). This was because 
in many instances, complainants wrongly describe the conduct in question as corruption when it 
might be more properly characterised as maladministration or mismanagement.  
 
The completion of this report was delayed as a result of the previous Ombudsman’s term of 
office ending, and legal challenges to the appointment of the current Ombudsman. However, 
now that these impediments are no longer operative as the current Ombudsman I have decided to 
finalise the report and present it to Parliament for consideration.  
 
In reaching this decision I considered that the investigative actions and efforts the office should 
not be wasted. Further, I considered that the people of Choiseul Province who first raised their 
concerns with my office should be assured that it has attempted to discharge its constitutional 
and statutory functions toassist the people of Solomon Islands in their dealings with government. 
The people of the Solomon Islands are entitled to good governance, characterised by honesty, 
probity and integrity, accountability and transparency.  
 
It is hoped that this report will be considered by various agencies within the Solomon Islands and 
that the recommendations made in the report will be seriously considered and where possible, 
implemented. It is also to be hoped that other Provincial Governments will consider the findings 
and recommendations detailed in this report and will review and revise their own procedures and 
practices accordingly. 
 
My office’s investigation examined the conduct of officials in relation to: 
 

• The borrowing of money from businessmen to pay provincial staff wages; 
 

• Tourism development proposal grant approval decisions;  
 

• Phone bill payments; 
 

• Staff redundancy and retirement decisions; 
 

• Sports grant funding decisions;  
 

• Borrowing for travel to Honiara by provincial staff; and  
 

• Timber hearings processes. 
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I found evidence of inappropriate practices. In particular, the CPG’s practice of borrowing funds 
from local businessmen to service wages payments was problematic. It provided a means by 
which maladministration and conflicts of interest readily intruded upon good governance. 
Closely related to this, I also found evidence of improper conduct by some CPG officials. In 
some instances this amounted to serious maladministration, and arguably abuse of power or 
corruption. 
 
I concluded that there were two underlying systemic causes for this. The first was a lack of 
rigorous management oversight of financial transactions by the CPG executive. The second was 
a lack of sufficiently skilled and trained staff to discharge critically important CPG financial and 
administrative functions.  
 
A summary of my recommendations is set out below. 
 

1. The CPG should discontinue the practice of borrowing funds from local 
businessmen to service wages payments, or any other outgoing costs. 

 
2. The Premier should more vigorously oversight the CPG’s financial management 
and administration by becoming more directly and personally involved in all CPG 
financial dealings and transactions. 

 
3. The CPG Premier should issue additional directives or procedures in relation to 
proper fiscal management and responsibility. In this regard, the Premier should seek the 
assistance of the MPG Legal Office. 

 
4. The CPG executive should explore options to enable training for CPG officials 
and staff in core areas like financial administration, so that CPG staff are better able to 
discharge their duties and responsibilities  

 
5. To assist with finding appropriate staff for CPG administration, the CPG 
executive should consider how it might facilitate an increase in remoteness loadings or 
allowances to attract better qualified and skilled people to the province. 

 
6. The CPG executive should report the instances of inappropriate conduct by CPG 
officials identified in this report – and in particular those of the then Treasurer in relation 
to wages borrowing and Tourism Development Projects - to relevant accountability or 
law enforcement bodies such as the LCC, the RSIP or the DPP for consideration as to 
whether further action should be initiated. 

 
7. The Premier should clarify to CPG staff and constituents that redundancy 
payments are not to be made to persons who retire on medical grounds, and that the CPG 
Premier review, oversee and authorise future redundancy payments.  

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
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In mid 2006 the Office of the Ombudsman of Solomon Islands received an anonymous 
complaint from ‘Concerned Lauru People’ concerning certain activities within Choiseul 
Provincial Government (‘CPG’) administration on Taro Island, Choiseul Province.  
 
Although the complaint referred to ‘official corruption’, the then Ombudsman, John Smith 
Pitabelama, decided to initiate an own motion investigation rather than refer the details of the 
complaint to another agency such as the LCC, RSIP or DPP. This was because in many 
instances, complainants wrongly describe the conduct in question as corruption when it might be 
more properly characterised as maladministration or mismanagement.  
 
2. FUNCTIONS 
 
The functions of the Solomon Islands Ombudsman are provided for under section 97 of the 
Solomon Islands Constitution [see Attachment 1] and include: 
 

1. Inquiring into the conduct of any person to whom this section applies in the 
exercise of his office or authority or abuse thereof;  

 
2. Assisting in the improvement of practices and procedures of public bodies; and  

 
3. Ensuring the elimination of arbitrary and unfair decisions. 

 
The Ombudsman is empowered under section 5(1) of the Ombudsman (Further Provisions) Act 
[CAP 88] to investigate any action taken by an officer or authority in the exercise of the 
administrative functions of that officer or authority. The Ombudsman may investigate where a 
complaint has been made, or where he considers it desirable to do so of his own motion.  

 
The Ombudsman provided the investigation team with an investigation plan and official 
instruments requiring officials to produce and disclose information to the team for the 
investigation. Copies of the investigation plan and official instruments are set out at Attachments 
2 and 3. 
 
3. NATURE OF THE COMPLAINT 
 
The complaint is set out in full at Attachment 4. In summary form, the complaint was as follows. 
 
The then Choiseul Treasurer, Mr Geoffrey Vakolevae and the then Choiseul Secretary 
(Supervising), Mr Jeffrey Pakipota allegedly failed to properly exercise their administrative 
duties and responsibilities. The complaint alleged in particular that: 
 

• Mr Vakolevae had mismanaged CPG accounts such that the CPG had to borrow 
money from local businessmen at an excessive rate of interest (up to 30%) in order to pay 
the wages of CPG direct employees.  

 
o These borrowings and commissions drew on a large proportion of CPG 
funds, and included loans from MrVakolevae’s own business, the Island 
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Bottleshop. 
 

• MrPakipota, who was authorised to co-sign CPG cheques, allegedly failed to 
perform his duties in that he consented to and approved of the wage related repayments to 
the Island Bottleshop.  

 
• MrVakolevae and MrPakipoka work together on certain issues with a former 
provincial politician and local businessman, MrSimmyVazarabatu. In concert, they 
arranged for an irregular transfer of approximately $50,000.00 under the guise of a 
Tourist Development Project (‘TDP’). 

 
• MrVakolevae regularly authorised the payment of his personal phone bills from 
CPG funds and used his CPG office and telephone for his private business dealings.  

 
The complaint provided details of the dates the payments were made and cheque numbers. The 
claims, on their face, raised significant issues about the fiscal mismanagement of CPG funds, 
potential instances of maladministration, non-compliance with relevant CPG regulations, 
ordinances, instructions or policy, and possibly corruption or other criminal actions. 
 
4. PRELIMINARY INQUIRIES IN HONIARA 
 
Prior to the commencement of the investigation tour, the office sought information from the 
National Bank of Solomon Islands (‘NBSI’) in Honiara about the transactions in question [see 
Attachment 5]. The NBSI provided the office with copies of the relevant cheques, which 
appeared to corroborate the allegations set out in the complaint – confirming that the cheques 
referred to in the complaint had been made out as alleged, and providing a documentary record 
of the signatures of the signatories [see Attachment 6]. 
 
5. THE INVESTIGATION  
 
The investigation team travelled to Taro Island and over a number of days, interviewed the CPG 
Premier, Mr Jackson Kiloe, and other key CPG staff. 
 
In the course of the investigation, the Premier and the Secretary highlighted a number of 
problems facing CPG administration with regard to staffing, skills and expertise.  
 
The CPG had difficulty attracting and retaining appropriately trained and skilled officers to fill 
key positions, and lacked assistance and support from the national Solomon Islands Government 
(‘SIG’) in Honiara in these areas. For example, adverts for vacant positions in the CPG had 
attracted no applicants and the CPG’s accounts had not been audited since 1995. The Premier’s 
own professional training was in aeronautic engineering rather than administration, and a number 
of key CPG staff were acting well above their substantive levels and had no support staff.  
 
These problems caused consequential difficulties for CPG administrators. While the Premier 
acknowledged that officials within the CPG might make mistakes or poor decisions due to these 
reasons, he indicated that he welcomed the investigation and would take necessary action to 
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ensure his staff’s full assistance with our inquiries and the implementation of any 
recommendations that might be made on completion of the investigation. He was keen for 
constructive assistance and advice. The Premier’s made full and frank disclosures of the 
problems facing CPG and support for the investigation precluded the need for the team to 
formally serve the Premier and other CPG officials with notices of production.  
 
The team then met with the CPG Accountant, Ms Malasa. She had kept detailed and 
comprehensive accounts records and offered full access to all relevant ledgers and supporting 
documentation in relation to the payment of salaries over the period October 20005 to December 
2005 and two payments of $16,500 cash made by Cheque Numbers 282/67 and 282/68 on 5 
December 2005. 
 
The accountant confirmed that the assertions in the complaint appeared consistent with her own 
understanding of the facts. In particular she: 
 

• confirmed that the Treasurer had signed a number of cheques and associated 
minutes authorising payment from CPG funds to local businessmen involving the 
repayment of monies borrowed from them along with a 30% commission; 

 
• had been told that the borrowings were necessary to pay the salaries of CPG 
employees when there was a shortfall in CPG funds due to delays in payments from the 
Ministry of Provincial Government (MPG) in Honiara; 

 
• indicated that when there is a shortfall in CPG funds for paying employees’ 
wages, the usual practice was for the Treasurer to borrow monies from Taro businesses to 
be repaid with a 30% commission; and  

 
• understood that most of the borrowings had been made from the Island 
Bottleshop, which is owned by the Treasurer. 

 
The team raised these matters to the Premier who advised the following: 
 

• When there are insufficient funds in the CPG accounts to pay for direct 
employees’ salaries, the CPG administration must borrow from business houses to ensure 
employees are able to provide for themselves and their families. 

 
• The usual practice is to first ask business operators with business licence arrears 
to the CPG promptly pay their arrears. 

 
• Where this does not provide sufficient funds, the Treasurer can recommend that 
funds be borrowed and from whom. 

 
• The CPG has been operating without a substantive Provincial Secretary, Deputy 
Provincial Secretary or Deputy Provincial Treasurer for some time. This has created 
some administrative problems for the CPG as there is no one to undertake deputised or 
delegated tasks. 
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• The Legal Officer at the Department of Provincial Government and Constituency 
Development (DPGCD) had been asked by the Premier to review all provincial rules and 
ordinances, the most recent of which came into force in July 1992. 

 
• There is a pressing need for training for CPG politicians, officials and employees. 
In the Premier’s view, it is only with such training that politicians, officials and 
employees will be aware of their duties and responsibilities, and will be able to properly 
comply with relevant administrative processes and procedures. 

 
• Currently, the payment of provincial grants is no longer a problem. Grants are 
paid on time in the first week of each month. Since the arrival of the Regional Assistance 
Mission to Solomon Islands (RAMSI), there have been very few instances of delayed 
grants. 

 
• Early in 2006 the Premier issued a minute to the Treasurer instructing him to give 
priority to the payment of salaries and to put aside an amount of the grant each month to 
avoid wages fund shortages that result in borrowings. [See Attachment 7]. Since the issue 
of this minute, borrowing funds to pay CPG direct employees’ wages has stopped. 

 
• The signatories to the CPG account during the period October to December 2005 
were Nixon Qurusu (then Secretary), Jeffrey Pakipota (then Deputy Secretary) and 
Geoffrey Vakolevae (Treasurer). 

 
• Two of the cheques issued for $16,500.00 (numbers 282167 and 282168) were 
made out to cash and were paid out on 5 December 2005 to two different persons. These 
cheques were signed by the then Secretary, Mr Qurusu, and the Treasurer, Mr Vakolevae. 

 
• The Premier understood that these payments related to two applications for 
Tourist Development Project funding made by two business houses, associated with 
MssrsVazarabatu, Pakipota and Vakolevae The applications were brought before the 
Provincial Executive for consideration and approval by the then Deputy Secretary, Mr 
Pakipota. 

 
• The Secretary prepared a minute directing the Treasurer to have funding 
payments raised and processed. Due to an objection from the Deputy Secretary, the 
payments were not raised or processed. 

 
• Soon after the Premier recommended the removal of the then Secretary, Mr 
Qurusu (for other unrelated matters) and the Treasurer reactivated the arrangement. The 
Treasurer authorised the two payments to be made and directed Ms Malasa to raise two 
cheques for the relevant amounts. 

 
• Although the two cheques were made out for cash, they were payable to the 
Island Bottleshop (owned by the Treasurer) and to Island Transit (owned by Mr 
Vazarabatu), the former provincial member and now local businessman.  
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The accountant subsequently confirmed the accuracy of this information and provided the 
following additional information. 
 

• Payment of monthly grants to the Province was no longer a problem. These have 
been paid on time at the beginning of each month. 

 
• The average monthly grant is around $182,000.00 and the average salary bill is 
approximately $13,000.00 per fortnight.  

 
• As a result of the Premier’s direction, the Treasurer should have been putting 
aside at least $26,000 each month for salaries. The Treasurer did not do so because there 
were ongoing funding shortages and 30% commissions had been paid on borrowed 
monies. 

 
o Instead, before each payday, the Treasurer would request officers to write 
notes requesting authority to borrow from local business owners to be repaid with 
30% interest. The main source of borrowings was the Island Bottleshop, which 
was co-owned by the Treasurer and his father, Mr Enoch Sila. 

 
• In the provincial budget, $50,000.00 had been allocated for tourism development 
and promotion. The Treasurer authorised processing of cheques for the amounts of 
$16,500.00 to each of Island Transit (owned by Mr Vazarabatu) and the Island 
Bottleshop (owned by him).  

 
• The payment of $33,300 on 5 December 2005 reduced the amount of provincial 
grants funds available for salaries, and consequently the province had to borrow to pay 
for salaries in December 2005. 

 
• The then Secretary, the Deputy Secretary, the Treasurer and Mr Vazarabatu are or 
were involved in the following relationships: 

 
o The then Secretary and the Deputy Secretary are social friends of the 
Treasurer and Mr Vazarabatu; 

 
o The then Provincial Secretary was a schoolmate of Mr Vazarabatu and is 
the first cousin of Mr Vazarabatu’s wife. 

 
• The CPG was responsible for paying the bills for a number of telephones, 
including the Premier’s office and residence and the Provincial office. Every month the 
Province also pays the bill for the Treasurer’s residential telephone. 

 
• The Deputy Secretary’s father-in-law was a driver for the Tarikukure Provincial 
Secondary School. He was sick and was replaced. Eventually, when the doctor certified 
his incapacity to continue working, he was retired on medical grounds. He was paid 
redundancy money despite being ineligible because of his retirement on medical grounds.  
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o This has caused a flow of claims from other workers who were previously 
retired. So far, a couple of cases have been paid by the Province following the 
driver’s precedent. 

 
Copies of relevant accounts and ledger entries relating to wages borrowings for October, 
November and December 2005 are set out at Attachment 8. 
 
Copies of relevant accounts and ledger entries relating to the tourism development proposal are 
set out at Attachment 9. 
 
The team also interviewed the current Secretary, Mr Pakipota, who advised that the three CPG 
officers authorised to sign provincial cheques were the Secretary, the Deputy Secretary and the 
Treasurer. Any two of the authorised signatories can sign.  
 
During October – December 2005, the period with which the investigation was concerned, these 
positions were respectively occupied by Nixon Qurusu, Mr Pakipota himself and Geoffrey 
Vakolevae. 
 
The Secretary said he was only involved in signing cheques as a formality when they were 
presented to him for his signature. He did not determine the amounts of the cheques or their 
purpose. His view is that he is obliged to leave the financial management of the Province to the 
Treasurer and to trust that the Treasurer is doing his job properly. 
 
He said that he was not aware that the amounts of the cheques, especially those cheques relating 
to salary borrowings repayments, included a 30% interest component until after they had been 
signed and paid. However, in one instance, he detected a commission when the supporting 
payment voucher was attached to the cheque. He raised the commission issue with the Treasurer 
and after some debate managed to get the Treasurer to reduce the commission to 20%. 
 
He understood that repayments of borrowed monies with interest or a commission had been the 
standard or customary practice in the Province for some time. He stated that he was just 
following this practice when he signed the above cheques. 
 
The Treasurer and SimmyVazarabatu are owners of the Island Bottleshop and Island Transit 
respectively. Together with Mr Pakipota, they applied for funding of $50,000.00 for the purposes 
of ‘tourism development’.  
 
The request was received when the then Secretary was in Honiara, so it was referred to Mr 
Pakipota as Deputy Secretary. He referred it to the Premier for approval because the application 
did not appear to fall within the criteria for tourism development and promotion, for which the 
funding was intended. He was concerned that under the provincial town’s land zoning, the Island 
Transit was situated in the commercial area, rather than the tourism zone and was therefore not 
eligible for tourism funding. The Premier indicated that he would consider and personally decide 
the application and that no further action was to be taken on it by other officers.  
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Further, Mr Pakipotawas concerned that he should not personally decide the application as he 
had established business links with the Treasurer and Mr Vazarabatu. He thought that this might 
involve a conflict of interest, so he sought advice from and consulted with the Premier. Both he 
and the Premier thought it prudent and preferable that he have no further involvement with the 
application and it was agreed that the Premier would personally decide the application. 
 
The then Secretary, Mr Qurusu, had been recommended for removal from the province by the 
Premier as unsuitable due to inappropriate and improper behaviour both during and outside work 
hours (see Attachment 10 ). The then Secretary was subsequently recalled to Honiara. However, 
just prior to his recall, and despite the Premier’s directive, the Treasurer approved the application 
and authorised two cheques for $16,500 each, which were paid on 5 December 2005. 
 
After speaking with Mr Pakipota, the team then met again with the Ms Malasa. She indicated 
that: 
 

• Despite the Premier’s directive in writing provided to the Treasurer in January 
2006, the payment of interest on loans has continued in respect of transactions  

 
other than loans for wages payments and provided accounts showing that the following 
grants had been paid to the province: 

 
1/09/05 receipt number 519109 $161,341.00 
2/11/05 receipt number 519133 $176,579.00 
28/11/05 receipt number 519142 $176,746.00 
14/12/05 receipt number 519143 $ 54,000.00 
(airport maintenance) 
14/12/05 receipt number 519144 $ 30,000.00 
(airport maintenance) 

 
See Attachment 11for further details about the amounts and times of grants.  
 
The accountant provided the following information relating to the allegations that the Treasurer 
had paid his personal telephone bill out of provincial funds. The figures in the “Totals” column 
of the table below represent the component of the overall bill that related to the to Treasurer’s 
domestic telephone number, no. 63103. 
 

Date  Amount  Cheque No. PV No. Totals 
3/11/05 $8,8403.85 280966 19/11 $140.02 
24/01/06 $4024.73 282257 77/1 $856.02 
14/02/06 $4370.94 319621 34/2 $515.51 
13/03/06 $1,795.32 319764 78/3 $133.03 
21/04/06 $3,631.90 319804 54/4 $283.48 

 
Ms Malasa also elaborated on some additional matters as follows: 
 

• In October 2005, the CPG Sports Co-ordinator, John Wesley Zinga, drew a 
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special imprest of $38,220 for the Solomons Cup in Honiara (Special Imprest No.50/05). 
He failed to retirethis imprest on his return.  

 
• Subsequently, in June 2006, Mr Zinga drew another special imprest of $40,000 
for the Solomon Games in Makira (Special Imprest No. 25/06). It was to be retired at the 
end of July 2006. However, while the previous Imprest issued to him in 2005 was not 
retired, this new Imprest was issued to Mr Zinga. 

 
• For the Treasurer’s trip to Honiara at the time of our investigation, the Provincial 
Government borrowed $12,000.00 from Jeremiah, his cousin. A cheque for $15,600 
(cheque no. 282333) was prepared to be paid as a refund for the loan, comprising the 
principal sum and a 30% commission.  

 
The accountant also raised issues relation to Timber Rights Hearings processes. Here the relevant 
logging company deposits money into the Province’s Reserve Account to cover the costs of the 
hearing. The people involved in the process are Executive members, the Forestry Officer (a SIG 
employee), Provincial administrative officials and land owners. The accountant alleged that 
payment of allowances involved  
 
improprieties. The budget is to be collected from Provincial Administration and landowners 
produce a budget to the company. On one occasion, the budget provided for 4 days but the 
meeting only took 1.5 days, but no refund was made off the excess funds received. 
 
The team again met with the Premier again following the interview with the Accountant.  
 
The Premier expressed concerns about the payments of $16,500 made on 5 December 2005 and 
advised that the then Deputy Secretary, Mr Pakipota, had refused to have the payments 
processed. However, the then Secretary, Mr Qurusu and the Treasurer proceeded to authorise the 
payment and co-sign the cheques. The Premier was very concerned about these payments as he 
had directed the proposal not be approved.  
 
The Premier advised that since taking office he had recommended the removal of two Secretaries 
and one Treasurer. His recommendations had been accepted and the officers either removed from 
their posts or recalled to Honiara. His immediate problem is that, if he removes the Treasurer 
there will be no one to co-sign provincial cheques - currently the only two people authorised to 
sign are the Treasurer and the Secretary (Supervising). 
 
The Premier also advised that, from 2000, Area Councils used to deal with Timber Rights 
Hearings. Since then, Area Councils have ceased to exist and the hearings are being conducted 
by provincial executives under laws passed by the SIG in Honiara. The Premier accepted that he 
had to discharge this responsibility but noted that Honiara had not provided the provinces with 
any additional funding to meet the costs of this additional function. He also indicated that the 
Provincial Executive was not well placed to hear disputes because of a lack of training and 
expertise in this area.  
 
He expressed concern that it was inappropriate for an administrator to undertake such a quasi-



15 | P a g e  
 

judicial role, and raised issues about perceptions of bias from parties who were unsuccessful at 
the hearing. He has reluctantly accepted this responsibility despite his misgivings, and noted that 
other provincial premiers are similarly concerned. For example, he said that the Premier of 
another province had told him that he would not complete a Timber Rights Hearing unless and 
until a court order required him to do so. The Premier indicated, however, that - as required by 
The Timber and Forestry Utilisation Act - the Provincial Executive must deal with any Timber 
Rights dispute within 3 months of notification. The details of this discussion are highlighted at 
Issue 7 on page 25. 
 
InAugust 2006, the team returned to Taro Island to complete the own motion investigation.  
 
The Premier expressed his appreciation for such an investigation in the Choiseul Provincial 
Office. He further reiterated the need for senior positions of the Provincial Secretary and Deputy 
Provincial Secretary to be filled. 
 
The team interviewed the Provincial Treasurer, Geoffrey Vakolevae, after issuing him with an 
order pursuant to section 12 of the Ombudsman (Further Provisions) Act. MrVakolevae provided 
the following information: 
 

• He is a share holder of Island bottle shop. His other family members however 
look after the operations of the business. It is a registered business. 

 
• The borrowing of money was done as a result of pressure from workers. 
However, he does not approve the borrowings himself and on two occasions the Premier 
sanctioned the borrowings 

 
• He co-signed the cheques to repay the borrowings to Island bottle shop, Billy 
Tagubala (Laru Bay), Mamakana and Venga store owned by Jeremiah. 

 
• He was not aware of the ruling of the Honiara magistrate court on illegal lending, 
was not aware that it is illegal to charge a commission. 

 
• He confirmed that paying of salary and wages is now a budget priority. 

 
• He admitted seeing the memo written by the Premier in January 2006. 

 
• He indicated that shortfalls were caused by pressures from politicians to pay ward 
grants. Each member is entitled to $40,000 as ward grant. He has now implemented 
controls in paying ward grants. 

 
• He admitted that logging companies were sometimes approached to pay their dues 
in order to meet salary and wages. 

 
• Borrowings to pay wages stopped around June/July 2006 and the province is now 
able to pay workers on time.  
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• Funds for the Tourism Development Project proposals were approved by the 
former acting Provincial Secretary Nick Qurusu. 

 
• The Island Bottle Shop, in which he is part owner, received its portion. The Island 
Transit lodge, which is owned by Simi Vazarabatu, also received funds.  

 
• The other applicant, Jeffrey Pakipota refused to accept his portion, citing conflict 
of interest. 

 
• However, he did not consider it a conflict of interest for the Island Bottle Shop to 
receive funding because the Island Bottle Shop is a registered business and he did not 
directly receive the money. Rather, the business did. 

 
• He denied having any links with the other Tourism Development Project 
applicants. 

 
• He was authorized to charge is phone bill to the province. The Provincial 
Secretary (PS) was aware of this. The Provincial Government was also paying phone bills 
of the Premier and the PS. He indicated that Mr. Qurusu authorized the payments. He 
advised that the Province Government was then still paying his phone bills. 

 
The team also met with the Sports Coordinator, John Wesley Zinga. The interview was brief and 
the following information was provided: 
 

• The delay in retiring the 2005 imprest was due to typing delays. 
 

• The 2006 imprest had since become ready to be retired and the report on how the 
imprest was used had since become ready to be typed. 

 
The Sport Coordinator advised that the procedure for obtaining an imprest involves an 
application through the Head of Departments to the Provincial Secretary. He was unable to 
explain why he was given the 2006 imprest despite the fact he had not yet retired the 2005 
imprest.  
 
The team also interviewed the Senior Administration Officer, Mr Luke Poloso to obtain 
information regarding how the province administers Timber Rights hearings, and was advised 
that: 
 

• The Provincial Government submits budget to the logging companies. 
Submissions include information like number of days and allowances for the delegation. 

 
• Sitting allowances were paid at the following rates: Premier $650; Deputy 
Premier $625; Members of Provincial Assembly $600. Other Government & Provincial 
Officials like Police, Forestry Officer and Provincial drivers were also paid certain sums 
of money of various amounts. 
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• The PS and Deputy PS coordinated the Timber Rights hearing, including the 
submission of budgets. 

 
• The PS and the Deputy PS do the administrative work on Timber Right hearings, 
including budgets. The PS only attends if invited.  

 
• The investigation team wanted to confirm the procedure for applying for imprests. 
Mr Poloso confirmed the procedure as outlined by the sports coordinator. 

 
The Provincial Treasurer was also interviewed in relation to the redundancy payment for Mr 
Pitisopa. Mr Pitisopa is Mr. Pakipota’s father in-law. 
 
The Treasurer confirmed that Mt Pitisopa was paid the amount of $9225.68 under payment 
voucher 24/2, cheque No. 298636. Approval for the payment was made in Ref: CP 1/03/03, 
dated 12/11/03 written by Jeffrey Pakipota.  
 
The Treasurer said that Mr Zakia Kimasaru - a provincial employee in the Works (Water Supply) 
Division - was also paid a redundancy package in 2004. This payment may have been made 
using Mr Pitisopa’s case as a precedent. 
 
 
The Treasurer further confirmed the following:  
 
• He was not related to Mr Kimasaru; 
 
• Mr Kimasaru was not entitled to a redundancy package; and 
 
• The redundancy package affected provincial funds. 

 
The Treasurer also indicated that he would like to provide the office with a written report. 
However, no report was received. 
 
6. FINDINGS 
 
Under section 16 of the Ombudsman Act, where the Ombudsman forms the opinion that the 
action or conduct under investigation was unlawful, involved a mistake of fact or law, or was 
unreasonable or unjust, the Ombudsman may recommend that remedial action be taken, and 
report his opinions and recommendations to the department or authority concerned to the Prime 
Minister and to any Minister concerned. The Ombudsman can recommend that a matter be 
reconsidered, an omission rectified, a decision varied, a practice altered, a law reconsidered, 
reasons for decision provided and other remedial steps taken.  
 
As a result of our investigations at Taro Island, the following issues were identified as matters of 
concern. 
 

1. Wages Borrowing 
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2. TDP Grant Approval 
3. Phone Bill Payments 
4. Redundancy & Retirement Decisions 
5. Sports Grant Funding 
6. Honiara Trip Borrowing  
7. Timber Hearings Processes 

 
The Ombudsman’s opinions and recommendations about these issues follow. 
 
Issue 1 - WAGES BORROWING 
 
Borrowings and Commissions 
 
The practice of a provincial government borrowing from businessmen to pay for its operating is 
inherently problematic for sound financial management and administration, and provides a 
means by which improper conduct, and possibly corruption, can readily interfere with good 
governance.  
 
It is recommended that the CPG discontinue the practice of borrowing funds from 
local businessmen subject to commissions to service wages payments 
or any other outgoing costs.  
 
The implementation of prudent financial management and appropriate administrative procedures 
can prevent the need for such borrowings from again arising and reduce the scope for 
maladministration and potentially corruption practices.  
 
It is recommended that new administrative procedures be implemented whereby all 
repayments for borrowed funds are overseen, reviewed and approved by the Premier 
before final processing. 
 
The Premier 
 
The information obtained in the course of the investigation suggests that the Premier acted 
reasonably and appropriately to address the problem after becoming aware of it. Although aware 
of the usual or customary practice of a 30% commission being charged on loans in Solomon 
Islands, the Premier was not specifically aware that similar commissions had been imposed on 
CPG borrowings for wages. When the Premier became aware of the matter, in a timely manner 
he issued a directive that funds for wages payments be reserved or ‘quarantined’ from the CPG’s 
monthly grant from the SIG. It appears that since his directive was issued, wages funds have 
been reserved and the CPG has not borrowed any monies to make wages payments. Had this not 
been the case, it would have been recommended in this report. The Premier is to be commended 
for having taken that initiative. 
 
While the Premier could arguably have paid more attention to financial management by the 
Treasurer, a continuing problem facing the CPG is the lack of appropriately trained and qualified 
staff. This coupled with the Premier’s other duties – such as resolving lands and timber disputes 
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– means the Premier necessarily must delegate some responsibilities to other members of the 
administration. In so doing, unless the Premier has had some prior knowledge of impropriety, he 
is entitled to trust that other officials within the CPG will discharge their duties honestly and with 
integrity.  
 
The problem for Choiseul is that, even when the Premier has prior knowledge of improprieties, 
shortages force continued reliance upon suspect staff, if only so that there are sufficient 
signatories for CPG cheques.  
 
The Premier had also requested assistance from the Solomon Islands Government in the form of 
an audit and review of the CPG’s accounts and procedures. Arguably, had this assistance been 
forthcoming at an earlier time, better and more prudent financial management of CPG funds 
might have resulted. Staffing and skills shortages remain a critical problem for proper and 
efficient CPG administration. For example, the issuing of new directives or procedures in 
relation to proper fiscal management and responsibility would improve CPG administration. 
However, there is a lack of appropriate and available skills in the CPG for the drafting and 
content of any such procedures.  
 
It is recommended that the Premier request: 

1. an audit of CPG financial affairs;  
2. that the MPG Legal Office review the CPG’s current financial instructions 

draft new and current administrative processes and procedures for his 
implementation; and 

3. training on key competencies for CPG administrative staff.  
 
The Provincial Secretary  
 
The Secretary acted appropriately and reasonably in all the circumstances, doing an adequate job 
in difficult circumstances. He is acting at levels beyond his substantive position and is 
underqualified and under-skilled for his current position. He followed what he understood to be 
the customary or usual practice in relation to the wages repayments and on one occasion raised 
his concerns about the level of the commission with the Treasurer.  
 
It is recommended that the Provincial Secretary be given further training and 
development if he is to remain in his current position.  
 
The Accountant  
 
The Accountant provided excellent levels of cooperation with the team’s investigations and kept 
meticulous records and ledgers. This enabled the team to identify the relevant transactions, locate 
relevant documentation and gain a better understanding of the situation. Her cooperation and 
record keeping is to be commended.  
 
The former Secretary 
 
It is the Ombudsman’s view that the conduct of the former Secretary in relation to the in 
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authorising payments of CPG funds to business houses subject to commissions was unreasonable 
and perhaps unlawful.  
 
The former Secretary appears to have failed to comply with directions from his superior office in 
the CPG administration and made decisions which involved conflicts of interest and the abuse of 
his position for personal gain. Some of his actions may have involved potentially criminal 
conduct and there appears to be a case for referring this other accountability agencies for further 
consideration.  
 
It is recommended that the CPG forward information about these financial dealings 
to the LCC the RSIP and the DPP for consideration of whether additional action 
needs to be taken.  
 
The Treasurer 
 
It is considered that the Treasurer acted inappropriately and improperly, engaging in conduct that 
arguably involved conflict of interests, misuse of public funds and abuse of power. We are 
satisfied that his actions in authorising payments of CPG funds to business houses were 
manifestly unreasonable and contrary to law. 
 
Potentially, his actions and conduct may have infringed criminal law in that he managed CPG 
funds in a contrived way to ensure that unnecessary borrowings were required. He profited by 
this in the form of loans from businesses or businessmen with whom he had direct links and 
which had to be repaid with excessive levels of commission or interest.  
 
He compounded this behaviour by demonstrating a degree of recalcitrance when - after being 
directed by the Premier to cease borrowing funds for CPG wages payments - he pursued the 
same practice in respect of other CPG financial transactions. This casts significant doubts about 
the motives for his actions and conduct, raising serious questions about his probity and integrity.  
 
It is recommended that the Premier refer details of the Treasurer’s conduct to other 
accountability and law enforcement agencies for further consideration and 
investigation, in particular, the LCC, the RSIP and the DPP. 
 
Business Houses 
 
The Office does not have the authority to investigate the actions and conduct of private 
businesses and businessmen. However, some Taro Island businessmen have clearly directly 
benefitted from the mismanagement of TPG direct employees’ wage payments. The extent too 
which these private parties were complicit in the situation is a matter best left to other authorities 
such as the DPP or the RSIP. 
 
Issue 2 – TOURISM DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL GRANT APPROVALS 
 
The Premier 
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The Premier did not act inappropriately or unreasonably in the circumstances. When the matter 
of the approval of the proposal was first drawn to his attention by the current Secretary, he 
directed that he would personally decide the application. His directive was subsequently 
disobeyed by the Treasurer, who proceeded to a decision that directly benefited his own business 
interests and those of his business associates. The Premier was not aware that his directive had 
been disobeyed until we drew it to his attention in the course of our investigation. In our view, 
this exonerates the Premier from any adverse finding and implicates the Treasurer.  
 
The Secretary 
 
The Secretary acted appropriately and reasonably in all the circumstances. Notwithstanding his 
relative lack of skills and qualifications, the Secretary was able to recognise a potential conflict 
of interest in his ongoing involvement (as Deputy Secretary at that time) with the processing of 
the TDP. He acted properly in raising his concerns with the Premier and followed the Premier’s 
advice to cease his involvement and to refer the matter to the Premier for his personal decision. 
The Secretary displayed commendable awareness and integrity in this instance. 
 
The Treasurer 
 
The actions and conduct of the Treasurer in this matter are of concern. As a member of the 
consortium of businessmen involved in making the application, he had a clear conflict of interest 
in any decision-making process. Despite becoming aware that the then Deputy Secretary had 
ceased any involvement in the process because of a potential conflict of interest, the Treasurer 
maintained direct involvement in the process. He compounded this error by disobeying an 
express directive from the Premier to not decide the proposal. Instead, in direct contravention of 
the Premier’s instructions, he approved the application and facilitated payment of approximately 
$16,500 to his own business.  
 
In the Ombudsman’s view, the Treasurer’s conduct can be characterised as serious 
maladministration or abuse of office that may arguably verge on criminality. By any description, 
it was improper, and merits some sanction or further action.  
 
It is recommended that the Treasurer’s conduct in respect of the TDP be referred by 
the Premier to the LCC, the RSIP and DPP for those agencies to consideration.  
 
The former Secretary 
 
The former Secretary also appears to have engaged in inappropriate behaviour and conduct 
comparable to that of the Treasurer. While the former Secretary might not have had similar 
business interests to the Treasurer, he can properly be considered, at the least, to have acted 
manifestly unreasonably and improperly by virtue of his close relationship with the Treasurer 
and his awareness that the Premier had directed that he personally would decide the 
application.There are grounds for concluding that the former Secretary and the Treasurer acted in 
concert to disobeythe Premier’s instructions and approve the proposal for personal gain.  
 
It is recommended that the Premier to refer the former Provincial Secretary’s 
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behaviour to the LCC the RSIP and DPP for consideration.  
 
Issue 3 – PHONE BILL PAYMENTS 
 
The Ombudsman is unable to conclude that there was anything remiss in the Treasurer’s phone 
bills being paid for by the CPG.  
 
The investigation revealed that the Treasurer authorised the payment of his personal telephone 
bill from CPG funds. It is conceivable that some calls made from the Treasurer’s home phone 
may have been on CPG business, however, there was no evidence that the Treasurer had kept 
records to establish this, or what proportion of those calls related to official business. Instead, the 
Treasurer arranged for the total cost of his telephone bills to be met by the CPG. In the absence 
of guidelines or policies prohibiting such an arrangement, the Ombudsman cannot conclude it 
involved impropriety.  
 
It is recommended that the Premier establish and implement guidelines relating to 
these matters. 
 
Issue 4 – REDUNDANCY AND RETIREMENT DECISIONS 
 
The Ombudsman finds that there appears to have been a misuse of power within the CPG to 
facilitate payment of redundancy monies to ineligible people. 
 
The then Deputy Secretary’s father-in-law, a driver for the Tarikukure Provincial Secondary 
School, was paid redundancy money despite being ineligible because of his retirement on 
medical grounds. The guidelines provide otherwise.  
 
This decision established a ‘precedent’ for claims from other workers who were previously 
retired. Redundancy monies have since been paid by the CPG to others in similar situations. The 
then Deputy Secretary, the then Secretary and the Treasurer either approved the first payment or 
were aware of the nature of the payment. 
 
It is recommended that the Premier clarify by written instruction to CPG staff and 
made available to constituents that redundancy payments are not to be made to 
persons who retire on medical grounds 
and that the Premier is to oversee and authorise futures redundancy payments.  
 
Issue 5 – SPORTS GRANT FUNDING 
 
The Ombudsman has concerns about the manner in which the Sports Coordinator handled 
funding. He did not comply with relevant administrative procedures by failing to retire this 
imprest on his return to Choiseul. However, it is also our view that responsibility for ensuring 
that imprests are properly handled rests with the  
 
Treasurer, who appears to have failed to exercise due diligence with regard to proper accounting 
and recording procedures. 
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It is recommended that the CPG adopt more rigorous and stringent financial 
management and administrative review to better ensure compliance with procedures.  

 
Issue 6 – HONIARA TRIP FUNDING 
 
The Ombudsman finds that that the Treasurer’s trip to Honiara was funded by borrowed monies 
that were subject to an excessive lender’s fee and/or commission (in the usual 30% range) 
imposed by his own business.  
 
Irrespective of whether or not the trip was necessary or related to CPG business, the Ombudsman 
view is that the Treasurer’s conduct is highly questionable. By the time the monies were 
borrowed for the trip, the Treasurer could not be unaware that the continued borrowing at 
excessive rates of commission or interest was having an adverse effect on the availability of CPG 
funds for salary payments. Nor could he have been unaware that the Premier had directed the 
practice to cease in respect of wages payments.  
 
In these circumstances, it is highly arguable that the Treasurer engaged in conduct to his personal 
financial advantage, amounting to a potential abuse of office. 
 
It is recommended that the Premier refer the details of this to the LCC the RSIP and 
the DPP for their consideration. 
 
Issue 7 – TIMBER HEARINGS PROCESS 
 
The Premier advised that from 2000, Area Councils used to deal with Timber Rights Hearings. 
Since then, Area Councils have ceased to exist and the hearings are being conducted by 
provincial executives under laws passed by the SIG in Honiara. The Premier accepted that he had 
to discharge this responsibility but noted that Honiara had not provided the provinces with any 
additional funding to meet the costs of this additional function. As a consequence, timber 
companies often funded the costs of hearings. He also indicated that the Provincial Executive 
was not well placed to hear disputes because of a lack of training and expertise in this area. 
 
He was concerned that it may be problematic and inappropriate for an administrator to undertake 
and discharge what appears to be a quasi-judicial role. He felt that this created a situation where 
participants might lack confidence in the process due to perceptions of bias and a lack of 
impartiality, particularly in the case of parties whom were unsuccessful at the hearing.  
 
He advised that he has reluctantly accepted the responsibility and, despite his misgivings, as 
required by the Timber and Forestry Utilisation Act, the Provincial Executive will deal with any 
Timber Rights dispute within 3 months of notification. However, he noted that his concerns 
appeared to be shared by other provincial premiers, for example, one Premier has indicated that 
he will not complete a Timber Rights Hearing unless and until a court order is issued requiring 
him to proceed.  
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The issues raised by the Premier in relation to Timber Rights Hearings appeared to be genuine. 
While the processes involved in Timber Rights Hearings might be something that the 
Ombudsman can comment upon, the Ombudsman has decided to make no observations about the 
administrative processes involved in Timber Rights Hearings. Where Parliament has considered 
such matters and adopted a specific and particular course, it is not the Ombudsman’s role to 
substitute an alternative view unless he is of the view it is unjust or manifestly unreasonable and 
that accordingly, the law should be reconsidered. This is not the case.  
7. NATURAL JUSTICE LETTERS FOR COMMENTS 
 
As a matter of Natural Justice and fairness on the Agency and the individuals who were 
implicated in the Report who were alleged to have been involved were given the chance to be 
heard. Letters were issued to the following: 
 

1. Hon. Jackson Kiloe, the Provincial Premier 
2. Mr. Nixon Qurusu, Secretary (Supervising) 
3. Mr. Geoffrey Pakipota, Deputy Secretary (Supervision) 
4. Mr. Mr Geoffrey Vakolevae, Provincial Treasurer  
 

Letters for Natural Justice Comments were written to the above on 29th November 2006 signed 
by me in my capacity as the Principal Investigation Officer then. 
 
During the course of the series of investigations, discussions were also held with them and also 
with other officers of the Province such as Ms. Malasa of the Treasury Division whose well 
recorded and maintenance of copies of Accounts materials assisted the Investigators in obtaining 
the required documents and records. Others who were implicated in the Report, e.g. Mr. Simi 
Vazarabatu provided information to the Investigators. The investigations were done in a very 
transparent manner and the officers were very cooperative with the Investigators. 
 
8. AGENCY AND ALLEGED INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES  
 
Responses were received by those whom letters were served in December 2006. They explained 
their position as to how and why they were involved in the matter. At least responses were made 
as requested. 
 
The Office acknowledged the officers for their responses and the cooperation they rendered 
during the two series of investigations carried on 21st June to 05th July 2006 and 25th August to 
02nd September 2006. 
 
9. CERTIFICATION 
 
This is to certify that this is the Final Tour Report on the Choiseul Province Tour to initiate an 
Own Motion investigation of an anonymous complaint received from 'concerned Choiseul 
people' of official corruption within Choiseul Provincial Government ('CPG') administration as 
mandated by the Ombudsman.  
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________________________________ 

Joe Poraiwai 
(Solomon Islands Ombudsman) 
 
 

 
 
10. List of Attachments  
 

 Attachment 1 
Section 97 of the S.I. National Constitution  

 
 Attachment 2 
Scope of Investigations 

 
 Attachment 3 
Ombudsman’s Order 

 
 Attachment 4 
Complaint Letter from Concerned Lauru People  

 
 Attachment 5 
Ombudsman’s letter to Manager, Operations, NBSI  

 
 Attachment 6 
Response from NBSI with copies of Cheques  

 
 Attachment 7 
Minute from Provincial Premier to Provincial Treasurer re: Money for 
salaries/wages 

 
 Attachment 8 
Copies of relevant accounts and Ledger entries relating to wages borrowings for 
October, November and December 2005 

 
 Attachment 9 
Copies of relevant accounts and Ledger entries relating to the Tourism 
Development proposal  

 
 Attachment 10 
Recommendation by Provincial Executive for removal of the then Provincial 
Secretary 

 
 Attachment 11 
Provincial Grants paid to Choiseul Provin 
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